### Replaces Petition for Review filed 3/11/20

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/13/2020 2:35 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 98268-6

NO. 79261-0-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Frederick A. Graham,

Petitioner,

v.

Bank of America, N.A.,

Respondent.

#### **CORRECTED** PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stanbery Foster, Jr., WSBA #1996 Scott B. Henrie, WSBA #12673 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380 Ph: (206) 628-6600

Fax: (206) 628-6611

Email: <u>sfoster@williamskastner.com</u> shenrie@williamskastner.com

Attorneys for Petitioner Frederick A. Graham

###

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Felicia Graham's Will

Felicia Graham died testate in 2000. On her death, her Will created two trusts: Trust A and Trust B. CP 37; 41. Trust B was divided into two separate trusts, one for Mr. Graham and one for his brother. The trust for Mr. Graham (the "Trust") is the subject of this Petition.

Article IV(B)(5)(a) of the Will contains the contested language and provides, in pertinent part, that when Mr. Graham dies, "his share of the net assets of the trust estate shall be distributed as he shall appoint or provide by his Will or, in the absence of such appointment or provision, to his estate." CP 42. Thus, the Will provides, in effect, that when Mr. Graham dies, the Trust terminates, and the property currently held in the Trust is vested in the estate of Mr. Graham subject to a "divestment" he may make in his will through his exercise of the power of appointment.

### B. <u>Procedural Background</u>

In earlier TEDRA proceedings related to Mr. Graham's Trust distributions ("TEDRA-I"), the trial court accepted Bank of America's (the "Trustee") position that there is a separate remainder interest in the Trust, but failed to address what rights the unascertained remaindermen have with respect to the Trust and its administration, and when a guardian ad litem (GAL) is required to represent the remainder interest. CP 31-32. Mr. Graham appealed the decision, but the Court of Appeals declined review, concluding that the ownership of any remainder interest in the Trust was "superfluous" to the question of the existence of any remainder interest. *Id*.

On September 10, 2018, Mr. Graham filed a second TEDRA Petition ("TEDRA-II") for Declaration of Rights regarding the ownership and associated rights of any future interest in the Trust. CP 1-10. The Petition requested an Order declaring that Mr. Graham may represent and bind any remainder interest that exists in the Trust. CP 9. The Petition was denied on October 16, 2018. CP 89-90. Ignoring the fact that the rights (if any) of the unascertained remaindermen in the Trust, and whether the remainder interest must be separately represented by a GAL, were still unresolved issues, the Commissioner concluded:

A separate remainder interest exists in the Trust, as held by Judge Ramsayer. Mr. Graham may not virtually represent that interest in TEDRA litigation or Non Judicial Biding Agreement, which could negatively impact the remainder interest.

CP 90.

Thus, the Commissioner concluded that the <u>mere existence</u> of a remainder interest in the Trust creates an inherent, unexplained conflict between the remainder interest and Mr. Graham's interest, which categorically bars virtual representation. This ignores the plain language of RCW 11.96A.120(9), which expressly permits the holder of a testamentary power of appointment to represent and bind the appointees or takers in default so long as there is no conflict of interest,

Mr. Graham appealed the denial of his TEDRA Petition to Division I of the Washington Court of Appeals.<sup>1</sup> On December 30, 2019, the Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's ruling, concluding the estate of Mr. Graham and/or the expectant appointees possess a cognizable interest in the Trust that conflicts with the interest held by Mr. Graham, barring virtual representation under RCW 11.96A.120.<sup>2</sup>

### IV. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), does the Court of Appeals' ruling that the term "estate" includes heirs and distributees of the estate present an issue

-3-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Frederick A. Graham v. Bank of America, N.A., Division I, Washington Court of Appeals, Case No. 19261-0-I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See App. A.

of substantial public interest where, for probate and tax purposes, under both state and federal law, a transfer to an estate is treated differently than a transfer directly to the heirs and distributees of the estate?

- 2. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), does the Court of Appeals' ruling that a conflict of interest exists and a guardian ad litem must represent the interests of the unascertained expectant appointees of Mr. Graham present an issue of substantial public interest where, by making Mr. Graham's general power of appointment subject to the consent an adverse party (the GAL), the Court has (a) converted Mr. Graham's general power of appointment into a non-general power, and (b) effectively invalidated all general powers of appointment in Washington?
- 3. Pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b)(2), does the Court of Appeals' ruling that the expectant appointees currently possess a cognizable property interest in the Trust corpus conflict with the prior Court of Appeals' holding that "no rights accrue under a will until the death of the deceased"? *In re Buhakka's Estate*, 4 Wn. App. 601, 603, 484 P.2d 463 (1971).
- 4. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), does the Court of Appeals ruling that the expectant heirs of the Estate of Mr. Graham currently possess a cognizable property interest in the Trust corpus conflict with this Court's prior ruling that "[a]n heir's interest in his ancestor's estate does not vest until that ancestor's death....[and] [p]rior to that event there is no 'heir'

because no one can be the heir of a living person"? *In re Estate of Wiltermood*, 78 Wn.2d 238, 240, 472 P.2d 536 (1970).

- 5. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), does the Court of Appeals ruling that a GAL must represent the expectant appointees' purported interest in the Trust corpus present an issue of substantial public interest because the GAL now faces the unworkable task of representing a limitless, undefined class of remaindermen that includes every person in the world but, presumably, excluding the estate of Mr. Graham?<sup>3</sup>
- 6. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(5), does the Court of Appeals arbitrary award of attorneys' fees present an issue of substantial public interest where the Court awarded fees against Mr. Graham for seeking a declaration of rights, on an admittedly unanswered issue, with no finding of fault, and awarded fees in favor of the Trustee who breached the duties of loyalty and impartiality it owes to Mr. Graham by litigating against Mr. Graham and in favor of the purported unascertained remainder interest, which is already represented by a GAL?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Absent a finding that Mr. Graham is incompetent, due process prevents the GAL from interfering with Mr. Graham's right to represent and bind his own estate. The due process basis for State interference with the property rights of Mr. Graham in this private, non-public matter requires a finding that Mr. Graham is incompetent by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence in a guardianship proceeding. RCW 11.88.045(3).

### V. ARGUMENT

# A. The Court of Appeals Ignored the Plain Language of the Will and Conflated the Estate of Mr. Graham With the Expectant Heirs and Distributees That May Take From the Estate of Mr. Graham.

It is the paramount duty of the court to give effect to the testator's intent when construing a will. *In re Estate of Bergau*, 103 Wn.2d 431, 435, 693 P.2d 703 (1985). "Such intention must, if possible, be ascertained from the language of the will itself...." *Id.* Courts must construe the language of a will according to the legal effect of the words used. *In re Estate of Riemcke*, 80 Wn.2d 722, 729, 497 P.2d 1319. Only when an uncertainty arises in reading a will may extrinsic facts or circumstances be admitted to explain the language of the will. *In re Estate of Bergau*, 103 Wn.2d at 436.

Here, Felicia Graham's Will is clear that when Mr. Graham dies, any Trust property that Mr. Graham does not appoint away from his estate pursuant to his testamentary general power of appointment "shall be distributed...to his estate." (Emphasis added). Ignoring the language of the Will and the intent of the testatrix, the Court of Appeals concluded that RCW 11.96A.120(7) "shows that the unascertained remaindermen have a cognizable and separate interest in the trust property...[and] that a conflict of interest arises between a beneficiary, like Frederick, and unascertained

remaindermen, that prevents the living person from virtually representing the unascertained remaindermen."<sup>4</sup>

However, RCW 11.96A.120(7) only applies where "an interest that has been given to a living person...is to pass to...the heirs...or the distibutees of the estate of that living person...." By its plain language, RCW 11.96A.120(7) is inapplicable here because, in default of Mr. Graham's power of appointment, Mr. Graham's interest in the trust <u>passes</u> to his estate. It does not pass to his heirs or distributees, as contemplated by RCW 11.96A.120(7).<sup>5</sup>

In applying RCW 11.96A.120(7) to this action, the Court of Appeals skipped a step in the transfer of title of the Trust corpus and conflates the estate (which has its own obligations) with the takers from the estate. This is the crux of the problem created by the opinion of the Court of Appeals: On the death of Mr. Graham, who gets the Trust corpus that is not disposed of pursuant to Mr. Graham's power of appointment? The Will

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> App. A, at pp. 7-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At first glance, RCW 11.96A.120(7) could be interpreted to control the right of virtual representation where a life beneficiary possesses a testamentary general power of appointment, as the life beneficiary could exercise the power of appointment in favor of his/her heirs and/or distributees. However, viewing 11.96A.120 as a whole, it is clear that RCW 11.96A.120(7) is not applicable in this situation because 11.96A.120(9), discussed *infra* pp. 11-12, expressly controls when the holder of a power of appointment can "virtually represent and bind persons who are permissible appointees or takers in default...." In applying RCW 11.96A.120(7) to this action, the Court of Appeals both applied the wrong TEDRA provision on virtual representation and conflated the estate of a decedent with the heirs and distributees of the decedent's estate.

unequivocally states that any Trust property that is not disposed of pursuant to Mr. Graham's power of appointment passes to his estate, that is, to the personal representative of the estate. The Court of Appeals, on the other hand, ruled that the Trust corpus skips the estate and passes directly to the heirs and distributees of the estate.

When a will or trust document provides that the trust corpus passes to the beneficiary's estate at death, the trustee has a legal obligation, on the death of the beneficiary, to transfer the trust corpus to the personal representative of the beneficiary's estate. Likewise, the personal representative of the estate of the decedent has a legal obligation to take control of the trust corpus to satisfy creditors' claims against the estate, pay the estate tax, and then distribute what is left pursuant to the decedent's public or private will. The Court of Appeals ruling all but guarantees substantial future litigation between trustees and personal representatives because, according to the Court of Appeals, both have a right to possess trust property that is to pass to the "estate" of a decedent.

## i. Tax and Estate Planning Implications Flowing From the Court of Appeals' Ruling That "Estate" Also Means "Heirs and Devisees of the Estate".

In addition to changing the intent of the testatrix and plain meaning of the words in her Will, the Court's ruling directly contradicts both federal and state tax law, which clearly differentiate between a transfer to the estate of a decedent, and a transfer directly to the heirs and distributees of the decedent.

With respect to state law, a transfer directly to heirs and devisees avoids probate administration (Title 11 RCW), and estate taxation (ch. 83.100 RCW). In contrast, a transfer to the estate of the decedent does not. Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Wills and Other Donative Transfers § 1.1, and Illus. 15 (1999); RCW 83.100.010 and .020.

With respect to federal law,<sup>6</sup> § 2503(c)(2) provides an exemption to the tax applied to gifts in trust to minors where the trust property will "(A) pass to the donee on his attaining the age of 21 years, and (B) in the event the donee dies before attaining the age of 21 years, be payable *to the estate of the donee* or as he may appoint under a general power of appointment as defined in section 2514(c)." 26 U.S.C. § 2503(c)(2) (emphasis added).

The exemption does not apply if, in default of the power of appointment, the trust property passes to the decedent's "heirs as law" instead of the decedent's estate. Ross v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue, 71 T.C. 897, 900 (1979). This is because "'estate' and 'heirs at law' are not equivalent concepts." Ross v. C. I. R., 652 F.2d 1365, 1368 (9th Cir. 1981)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Also significant, but omitted due to page constraints of this Petition, is the impact of the Court of Appeals' decision in the application of IRC § 2033 (stating "[t]he value of the gross estate shall include the value of all property to the extent of the interest therein of the decedent at the time of his death"), and §§ 2601 (imposing tax on generation-skipping transfers) et seq.

(emphasis added). "Property passing through an estate would be subject to federal estate taxes...However, property which passes to heirs at law is deemed transferred directly from the settlor to the donee's heirs at law and therefore not subject to taxation in the donee's estate." *Ross*, 652 F.2d at 1368 (citing 26 U.S.C. §§ 2033, 2041).

Here, the Court of Appeals contrary ruling that the estate of a Washington decedent and his heirs/distributees are one and the same renders it unclear how the gift tax exemption for transfers for minors in trust will be applied to Washington residents going forward, as the exemption only applies if, in default of the decedent's power of appointment, the trust corpus passes to the decedent's estate where it is subject to the estate tax.

The Court's ruling also creates problems for the marital deduction provided by 26 U.S.C. § 2056, which allows a deduction from the adjusted gross estate of a first-dying spouse for property that passes to the surviving spouse. "The purpose, however, is only to permit a married couple's property to be taxed in two stages and not to allow a tax-exempt transfer of wealth into succeeding generations. Thus the marital deduction is generally restricted to the transfer of property interests that will be includible in the surviving spouse's gross estate." United States v. Stapf,

375 U.S. 118, 128–29, 84 S. Ct. 248, 255–56, 11 L. Ed. 2d 195 (1963) (emphasis added).

"The nature, extent, and character of the surviving spouse's interest in property must be determined by state law." *Estate of Heim v. C.I.R.*, 914 F.2d 1322, 1327 (9th Cir. 1990). If, under Washington law, the term "estate" encompasses the heirs and distributees of the estate, as held by the Court of Appeals, marital trusts that require the trust corpus to pass to the surviving spouse's "estate" on his or her death would nonetheless be ineffective because the trust corpus would, presumably, still be able to pass directly to the surviving spouse's heirs and distributees, avoiding the surviving spouse's gross estate.

In addition to ignoring the plain language of the Will and the intent of the testatrix, the Court of Appeals' erroneous ruling that the term "estate" includes the heirs and distributees of the estate will have far-reaching consequences in the tax and estate planning context, which presents an issue of substantial public interest that must be addressed by this Court.

## B. The Court of Appeals Ruling Impairs Mr. Graham's General Power of Appointment and Effectively Invalidates All Testamentary General Powers of Appointment in Washington.

The Court of Appeals' erroneously determined that a life beneficiary with a testamentary general power of appointment has an inherent conflict of interest with the expectant appointees, which requires appointment of a GAL. This ruling effectively converts Mr. Graham's power of appointment and, by extension, all general powers of appointment in Washington, into a non-general power because it gives the GAL, acting on behalf of the expectant appointees, a right to participate in any decision concerning the disposition of the Trust corpus.

Section 205 of the Uniform Powers of Appointment Act<sup>7</sup> explains why a GAL's representation of unknown and unascertained appointees of a testamentary general power of appointment effectively renders the power non-general. Section 205(b) provides "[i]f a powerholder may exercise a power of appointment only with the consent or joinder of an adverse party, the power is nongeneral." Accord Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Wills and Other Donative Transfers §17.3, com. e. (2011) ("[i]f the power can only be exercised with the joinder of an adverse party, however, the power is not a general power.").

RCW 11.96A.120(9) allows the holder of a testamentary power of appointment, such as Mr. Graham, to "virtually represent and bind permissible appointees or takers in default...under the power" so long as

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Uniform Powers of Appointment Act has not been adopted in Washington, but is included herein for its instructive explanation of non-general powers of appointment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Section 205 of the Uniform Power of Appointment Act is attached hereto as App. C. The comments to this section explain that "[a]n adverse party is an individual who has a substantial beneficial interest in the trust..that would be adversely affected by the exercise or nonexercise of the power in favor of the powerholder, the powerholder's estate, or the creditors of either."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Id*.

there is not a conflict of interest. A conflict is only present under RCW 11.96A.120 if the representative and party to be represented have "significantly different economic interests in the matter in issue[.]" Comments to S.B. 5196, § 305 (Ch. 42, Laws of 1999).<sup>10</sup>

Thus, the Court of Appeals ruling that a GAL must represent the expectant appointees' interest effectively requires the consent of an adverse party (the GAL) to Mr. Graham's exercise of his testamentary general power of appointment. This converts the unrestricted testamentary general power of appointment granted to Mr. Graham in the Will of Felicia Graham into a non-general power. As a published decision, the ruling that a GAL must represent and protect the expectant appointees' undefined interest against the holder of the general power of appointment effectively destroys general powers of appointment in Washington

Converting general powers of appointment into non-general powers in Washington will also have significant unintended tax consequences. Property subject to a general power appointment is included in the gross estate of the holder of the power, while property subject to a non-general power is not. 26 CFR §§ 20.2041-3(a)(1); (c)(2).

 $^{10}$  Comments to S.B. 5196,  $\S$  305 (Ch. 42, Laws of 1999) is attached hereto as App. B.

-13-

In short, the Court of Appeals erroneous ruling impacts more than just the parties to this action. It effectively destroys general powers of appointment in Washington and will impede trust property subject to a purported general power of appointment from entering the power holder's taxable estate on his death.

## C. The Future Heirs and Expectant Appointees of Mr. Graham Hold Mere Expectancy Interests That Cannot be Represented by a GAL.

The Court of Appeals ruling that "the unascertained remaindermen do have a legally recognized interest, and a special representative may separately represent them" ignores decades of decisional law from the Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals, which holds that expectant heirs and appointees hold mere expectancy interests, which are incapable of representation by a GAL.

"The holder of a testamentary power may exercise the power only by the powerholder's last will[.]" RCW 11.95.060(2). A will only takes effect upon the death of the testator. *In re Hall's Estate*, 159 Wash. 236, 241, 292 P. 401 (1930). Accordingly, "[e]xpectations or hopes of succession, whether testate or intestate, to the property of a living person, do not vest until the death of that person." *Irving Tr. Co. v. Day*, 314 U.S. 556, 562, 62 S. Ct. 398, 401, 86 L. Ed. 452 (1942). The Washington Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> App. A, at p. 8.

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