FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/10/2020 4:06 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 98268-6

NO. 79261-0-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Frederick A. Graham,

Petitioner,

v.

Bank of America, N.A.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mathew Harrington (WSBA #33276) Karolyn Hicks (WSBA #30418) RoseMary Reed (WSBA #34497) STOKES LAWRENCE, P.S. 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, WA 98101-2393 Telephone: (206) 626-6000 mathew.harrington@stokeslaw.com karolyn.hicks@stokeslaw.com rosemary.reed@stokeslaw.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

and its outcome is determined by the terms of a specific Trust—it does not concern an issue of public interest, let alone "an issue of <u>substantial</u> public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4) (emphasis added). A lower court's decision may involve "an issue of substantial public interest" if the decision "has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts" and "if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413, 414, ¶ 2 (2016). Petitioner has not identified any similar proceedings in lower courts that share a common issue with the Petition. Cf. State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, ¶ 7, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) ("This case presents a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" because "[t]he Court of Appeals holding . . . also has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where [drug offender sentencing alternative] was or is at issue."). This is a purely private dispute and Petitioner has not carried his burden, as the petitioning party, to demonstrate the existence of an issue of substantial public interest. This Court should deny review.

A. Honoring the intent of the testator and the terms of the Trust, the Court of Appeals preserved Petitioner's power of appointment, stating that Petitioner "can decide who receives the remainder interest."

Nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision undermines Petitioner's power of appointment. The opposite is true—the Court of Appeals stated that, without limitation, "[Petitioner] <u>can decide who</u> receives the remainder

interest." *Marital Tr. B II*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 613, ¶ 15 (emphasis added). Notably, Petitioner provides no citation to any part of the Court of Appeals' decision which would limit his power of appointment. Pet. at 11-14. The decision below contains no such limitation.

Petitioner confuses his power of appointment with the role of a GAL. Petitioner incorrectly argues that involvement of a GAL subverts his power of appointment because the GAL would need to "consent . . . to [Petitioner's] exercise of his testamentary general power of appointment." Pet. at 13. Petitioner is mistaken.

First, nothing in the Court of Appeals' opinion states that a GAL must be involved if/when Petitioner exercises his testamentary power of appointment. Second, the power of appointment is not the same as the power to choose whether any assets remain in the Trust at Petitioner's death and it is not the same as the power to decide who receives the assets now, during Petitioner's lifetime. Third, selecting a remainder beneficiary is not the same as representing the interests of the remainder beneficiary. Fourth, whether a GAL or special representative must be involved is controlled by statute, not by the Court of Appeals' decision. See infra at Section III.C., starting on page 14. The opinion does not change Washington law regarding general powers of appointment.

The Court of Appeals' decision leaves Petitioner's testamentary general power of appointment unaltered and unmodified.

B. The spendthrift clause establishes that Petitioner owns neither the assets nor the remainder, despite having the benefit of the assets.

Petitioner's interest in Trust assets is limited—he is entitled to an annual distribution of Trust income. CP 37 at Art. IV.A.4. Also, the Trustee may, in its sole discretion, make distributions of Trust principal <u>if</u> Petitioner's income is insufficient to support him in his "accustomed manner of living." CP 38 at IV.A.5. The nature of Petitioner's partial interest in the Trust is correctly reflected in the Court of Appeals' holding that Petitioner does not "own the trust property" nor does he "have an interest in the [Trust's] remainder." *Marital Tr. B II*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 613-14, ¶ 16.

The spendthrift nature of the Trust further limits Petitioner's interest in the Trust. Petitioner's mother created a spendthrift trust, thereby giving her son the <u>benefit</u> of Trust assets during his life but not full ownership rights and not the power to control Trust assets during his life:

No disposition, charge or encumbrance of either the income or principal of the trust estates, or any part thereof by any beneficiary under these trusts by way of anticipation shall be of any validity or legal effect, or be in any wise regarded by the Trustee, and neither the income nor principal of the trust estates, nor any part thereof, shall in anyway be liable to any claim of any creditor of any beneficiary.

CP 43 at Art. IV.C.2. Petitioner's argument ignores this clause.

That the spendthrift clause prevents Petitioner from alienating Trust

property is just one reason that Petitioner does not own the Trust property, including the remainder. See RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TRUSTS § 58, Comment a (2003) ("The term 'spendthrift trust' refers to a trust that restrains voluntary and involuntary alienation of all or any of the beneficiaries' interests."); Thomas P. Gallanis, The New Direction of American Trust Law, 97 IOWA L. REV. 215, 219 (2011) (explaining that "[p]roperty that we own can be reached by our creditors" but spendthrift clauses prevent creditor's claims brought by creditors of a beneficiary because a spendthrift "trust is fundamentally the settlor's"). The spendthrift clause limits Petitioner's interest in Trust property such that Petitioner does not retain "one or more of the fundamental attributes of ownership (the right to possess, exclude other[s], and to dispose of property)." Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap Cty., 188 Wn. App. 1, 39, 352 P.3d 807 (2015) (citing Presbytery of Seattle v. King County, 114 Wn.2d 320, 330, 787 P.2d 907 (1990), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 911 (1990)); see also Helene S. Shapo et al., BOGERT'S LAW OF TRUSTS & TRUSTEES, § 222 at 396 (3d ed. 2007) ("by creating a spendthrift trust [the trustor] is giving the beneficiary only a partial interest").

In addition to the spendthrift clause, the income provision of the Trust clarifies Petitioner's interest in Trust assets. Petitioner is only entitled to annual distributions of trust <u>income</u>. CP 37 at Art. IV.A.4. Distribution

of Trust principal is only allowed if, "in the judgment of the Trustee," the income from the Trust is "insufficient to provide for the proper support in [Petitioner's] accustomed manner of living." CP 38 at Art. IV.A.5.

Petitioner points to no provision of the Trust that gives him ownership of the Trust assets, let alone the remainder interest. No such provision exists. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Petitioner's mother made "clear that she did not intend for [Petitioner] to have an interest in the remainder or own the trust property." *Marital Tr. B II*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 614, ¶ 16.

C. The Washington State Legislature protects the interests of remainder beneficiaries by prohibiting virtual representation when there is a conflict of interest between the remainder beneficiary and the lifetime beneficiary.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, the Washington State Legislature gave the remainder interest—whether that interest is given to appointees, heirs, or distributees of an estate, or distributees or beneficiaries of a trust—a legally cognizable, protectable interest via passage of the virtual representation sub-section of TEDRA. RCW 11.96A.120 (the "Virtual Representation Statute"); *see Marital Tr. B II*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 614, ¶ 18 (RCW 11.96A.120 establishes that the remainder beneficiary does "have a cognizable and separate interest in the trust property"). The Virtual Representation Statute expressly protects interests held by remainder

beneficiaries by prohibiting a lifetime beneficiary (e.g., Petitioner) from virtually representing the remainder beneficiary if there is a conflict of interest. RCW 11.96A.120(7), (9). The official comments to RCW 11.96A.120 state that "a 'conflict' exists only if the party who would be the virtual representative has significantly different economic interests in the matter in issue from those of the parties being virtually represented." Comments to TEDRA at § 305 (Jan. 28, 1999) (excerpted at CP 59).

Petitioner denies that a conflict of interest exists between himself and the remainder beneficiary, insists that he can virtually represent the remainder beneficiary, and argues that he owns the Trust assets. Pet. at 17.

Regarding virtual representation, two provisions of RCW 11.96A.120 permit a trust's lifetime beneficiary (here, Petitioner) to virtually represent the remainder beneficiary, but only when there is no conflict of interest between the lifetime and remainder beneficial interests. RCW 11.96A.120(7), which refers to an interest passing from a living person to the distributees of that person's estate, states:

Where an interest has been given to a living person, and the same interest, or a share in it, is to pass to . . . the heirs, . . . or the distributees of the estate of that living person upon the happening of a future event, that living person may virtually represent the . . . heirs . . . and the distributees of the estate of the person, but only to the extent that there is no conflict of interest between the representative and the person(s) represented with regard to the particular question or dispute.

(emphasis added). Likewise RCW 11.96A.120(9), which specifically refers to powers of appointment, states:

To the extent there is no conflict of interest between the holder of the power of appointment and the persons represented with respect to the particular question or dispute, the holder of a lifetime or testamentary power of appointment may virtually represent and bind persons who are permissible appointees or takers in default

(emphases added). In either scenario a conflict disqualifies Petitioner from virtually representing the remainder beneficiary. RCW 11.96A.120(7), (9).

There is a clear conflict of interest between Petitioner and the reminder beneficiary, where Petitioner wishes to change the terms of the Trust to compel distributions of principal to him that exceed those currently permissible under the Trust. This change will necessarily deplete the principal that would otherwise pass to the remainder beneficiary at Petitioner's death. As the Court of Appeals explained, "a conflict of interest arises between [Petitioner] and the [remainder beneficiary] if [Petitioner] attempts to exhaust the trust's funds. [Petitioner] cannot represent this interest." *Marital Tr. B II*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 615, ¶ 19; *see also* CP 27, 50-65 (Bruce P. Flynn et al., *Nonjudicial Dispute Resolution Agreements in Trusts and Estates – The Washington Experience and a Proposed Act*, 20 ACTEC Journal 138, 141 (1994)) (opining that a conflict exists between a life beneficiary and the remaindermen regarding principal distributions to

the life beneficiary); CP 27, 66-68 (Uniform Trust Code § 302, Comment).

Despite the plain language of the Virtual Representation Statute, Petitioner argues that the remainder beneficiary does not have a protectable interest that is capable of being represented under RCW 11.96A.120. Pet. at 16. If, as Petitioner asserts, remainder beneficiaries do <u>not</u> have a legally cognizable interest, then there could <u>never</u> be a conflict of interest between a remainder beneficiary and a lifetime beneficiary. Such an interpretation would render parts of the Virtual Representation Statute meaningless. Petitioner's argument is irreconcilable with the statutorily-recognized interest held by the remainder beneficiary. RCW 11.96A.120(7), (9).

Petitioner also argues that RCW 11.96A.120(7) does not apply because, in default of his power of appointment, the Trust directs that Petitioner's interest will go to his estate and not to the heirs or distributees of his estate. Pet. at 7. Petitioner ignores, however, that an estate is not the end point—assets that go to an estate are administered by the personal representative and distributed to the heirs, beneficiaries, or distributees of the estate. Regardless, the cognizable, protectable interest held by the remainder beneficiary is recognized in both subsections (7) and (9) of RCW 11.96A.120, and both prohibit virtual representation in the face of a conflict.

The Court of Appeals held: Petitioner does not own the Trust property nor does he have an interest in the remainder; the remainder

beneficiary has "a cognizable and separate interest in the trust property"; there is a conflict of interest between Petitioner and the remainder beneficiary if Petitioner "attempts to exhaust the trust's funds," therefore, Petitioner "cannot represent this interest"; and "a special representative may separately represent such interest." *Marital Tr. B II*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 613-15. The Court of Appeals did <u>not</u> rule that a decedent's estate and his heirs/distributees are the same, <u>nor</u> did the Court of Appeals rule that "the Trust corpus skips the estate and passes directly to the heirs and distributees of the estate." Pet. at 8. Petitioner provides no citation to the Court of Appeals decision to support that characterization because none exists. 6

The court below correctly held that the remainder beneficiary has a cognizable interest in Trust property (separate from Petitioner's) and that a conflict prevents Petitioner from virtually representing the remainder.

D. Whether or not the remainder beneficiary is ascertainable has no bearing on the validity of the remainder beneficiary's present interest in the Trust.

Petitioner conflates the expectancy interest held by beneficiaries of a <u>will</u> with the cognizable and protectable interests held by remainder

⁶ Petitioner's entire argument regarding State and Federal tax law relies on a mischaracterization of the Court of Appeals holding. Pet. at 8-11. Petitioner repeatedly asserts that the Court of Appeals ruled "that the term 'estate' includes heirs and distributees of the estate." Pet. at 11. The court below issued no such ruling.

beneficiaries whose interests are secured through a <u>trust</u>. Unlike a trust, a will is an ambulatory document and is not effective until the testator dies. *See Hall's Estate*, 159 Wash. 236, 241, 292 P. 401 (1930). As observed in *Marital Trust B II*: "[Petitioner] fails to appreciate the difference between a living person's and a dead person's estate." 11 Wn. App. 2d at 613, ¶ 15.

Petitioner's estate will not exist until his death, making the remainder beneficiary of the Trust currently unascertainable. Yet the fact that the beneficiaries may be unascertainable does not destroy the validity of their interests. Restatement (Third) of Trusts § 44 (2003). For a trust to be valid and to create a remainder interest, "[i]t is not necessary that the intended beneficiary or beneficiaries be known at the time of the creation of the trust," only that they be ascertainable "at the time when a question of the trust's continuance is to be resolved." RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF Trusts § 44, *Comment a*. Here, Petitioner's estate (and more specifically the parties who will receive the assets of the estate—the distributees of the estate) will become ascertainable when he dies. That is all the law requires in order to establish a valid beneficial interest in a trust.

Ignoring the difference between trust and will beneficiaries, Petitioner recites, at length, various principals regarding the expectancy interests held by heirs/beneficiaries to a <u>will</u>. *See* Pet. at 4 (Assignments of Error Nos. 3 and 4); *id*. at 14-16. None of those principals apply to this

dispute, which concerns the interest bestowed by a <u>trust</u> to a lifetime beneficiary (i.e., Petitioner) and the remainder beneficiary.

E. The Court of Appeals did not err in awarding attorneys' fees.

The Court of Appeals appropriately exercised its discretion and awarded reasonable attorneys' fees to the Trustee because Petitioner's lawsuit did "not benefit . . . the trust, and [Petitioner] does not prevail." *Marital Tr. B II*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 615; RCW 11.96A.150; RAP 18.1(a); *cf. Estate of Niehenke*, 117 Wn.2d 631, 648, 818 P.2d 1324 (1991) (where the services of the attorneys are rendered solely for the benefit of certain parties, attorneys' fees should not be awarded out of the estate, even though the estate is incidentally benefited by having adverse claims decided); *see also Marital Trust B I*, 196 Wn. App. 1072, 2016 WL 6952619 (Trustee did not violate its fiduciary duty in taking the same positions in litigation as here to protect the Trust, even when adverse to Petitioner).

Regardless, Petitioner's argument is moot: the Trustee never submitted a motion or bill for attorneys' fees nor collected fees. The Trustee does not intend to collect fees, despite the Court of Appeals' grant below.

IV. CONCLUSION

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